

Master of Arts in Clinical Mental Health Counseling (CMHC) Program

Annual Report

2023 – 2024 Academic Year

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
CMHC Program Overview	3
CMHC Program Mission Statement	4
Summary of Program Evaluation and Student Assessment	4
Key Performance Indicators	4
Tevera Data	7
Table 1: KPI Tevera Data	7
Key Professional Dispositions	8
Table 2: KPD Data	9
Demographics and Other Characteristics	10
Table 3: Current Student Demographic Data	10
Table 4. Applicant Demographic Data	11
Modifications & Improvements Based on Program Evaluation	13
Other Significant Program Changes	13
Conclusion	14
Appendix A: Key Professional Indicators Definitions	15
Appendix B: Key Professional Dispositions Definitions	16

CMHC Program Overview

Founded in 1890, West Virginia Wesleyan College (WVWC) is a private residential liberal arts college located in the foothills of the Appalachian mountain range in Buckhannon, WV. The College is related to the United Methodist Church, with a curriculum committed to intellectual rigor, self-discovery, human dignity, mutual support, social justice, self-discipline, mental and physical wellness, the appreciation of diversity and the natural world, and the judicious use of resources. The College has over 40 undergraduate academic majors, six graduate programs, 21 NCAA Division II sports, comprehensive student life, community engagement, and outdoor recreational programs.

The Higher Learning Commission (HLC) approved West Virginia Wesleyan College to begin the Master of Arts in Clinical Mental Health Counseling in the summer of 2023. This new program was a collaborative effort made possible through a \$1.2 million investment by Aetna Better Health of West Virginia and CCWV, with graduates eligible to receive employment opportunities through CCWV. This direct investment to funnel trained counselors into WV communities will help address the shortage of mental health providers statewide.

WVWC's Master of Counseling program strives to train exceptional future counselors. To do so, WVWC has created a core curriculum of 51 required credits that encompass the eight foundational knowledge and skill areas that support professional counselor identity: professional orientation and ethical practice, social and cultural identities and experiences, lifespan development, career development, counseling practice and relationships, group counseling and group work, assessment and diagnostic processes, and research and program evaluation. Students are provided with a curriculum choice offering nine credits (three courses) to use toward a specialization in which they are interested. Courses are offered through online delivery in 8-week blocks, with students taking two courses per block as a full-time student or one course per block as a part-time student. There are five blocks in an academic year (two per spring and fall semesters and one per summer semester). Students must earn a grade of B (3.0) or better in each of the graduate courses before proceeding in the program. A course with an unsatisfactory grade may be repeated only once in the program. The 60-credit program is designed to be pursued in an online cohort model, allowing students to connect more fully with their faculty and peers as they progress through their counselor training. Courses are delivered in a hybrid format of synchronous and asynchronous distance learning. Students are required to attend 2.5 hours per week of instructional time synchronously. Students are also required to attend in-person residencies at WVWC at the start of each academic term (excluding summer classes).

The Counseling curriculum offers two areas of specialization: Clinical Mental Health and Addiction Counseling, which may require additional elective coursework. The five courses in the Addictions Certificate, and the overarching 60-credit master's curriculum, afford students a clear pathway to servant leadership in WV. The curriculum meets the requirements for application to the West Virginia Board of Examiners in Counseling, the regulatory board that grants licensure as a professional counselor (LPC) in WV. Additionally, the curriculum meets the advanced educational training requirements to apply for the Alcohol and Drug Counselor (ADC) credential in West Virginia.

CMHC Program Mission Statement

Our mission is to train future counselors to be of service to others, which we view as the cornerstone of the counseling field. Your only prerequisite is the willingness to grow and change. We believe moving beyond tolerance to celebrating diversity is fundamental to your success in this program and as a counselor. You will gain the skills to build relationships that facilitate the process of healing with the ultimate goal of creating sustainable and equitable systems for ourselves, for our families, for our communities, and for the people we serve.

Summary of Program Evaluation and Student Assessment

Program assessment is one of the most important aspects of any learning environment, in that it creates a systematic process to ensure that not only are the courses we offer meeting industry standards but that they are also tailored to the needs of our student population. Please read below for more information about how we achieve those two goals.

Student Feedback

Faculty Evaluations

Students provide feedback to instructors anonymously at the end of every 8-week course through SmartEval, which is accessible through Blackboard. Important to note: faculty **do not** have access to any student feedback until **after** final grades are recorded.

Advisor Evaluations

Students will be given the opportunity to provide feedback about the academic advising experience using an evaluation form at the end of each fall and spring term. Feedback to advisors can be given anonymously or with student names attached. Advisors then work with the program director or other faculty members as needed to better meet the needs of students based on feedback provided.

Assessment of Program Learning Outcomes

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

Key performance indicators (KPIs) are quality standards that are assessed at multiple points across the program curriculum for all students. Students are assessed on at least ten KPIs; the number of KPIs varies between specialization areas within the counseling program. Please see **Appendix A** for an overview chart of KPI assessment.

Key Professional Dispositions (KPDs)

Key Professional Dispositions (KPDs) are assessed at five points throughout the program and serve as a twofold process to: a) inform students of their progression in the development of their professional skill set and b) inform faculty of potential gatekeeping or remediation needs while the student is in the graduate program. Please see **Appendix B** for an overview chart of KPD assessment.

Graduate Outcomes Assessment

The three components that complete the overall program assessment picture include: a) graduate outcomes, b) a diverse learning community, and c) fieldwork.

Graduate Outcomes include the pass rate on the CPCE each year, degree completion rates, and employment rates at several points post-graduation (6 months, 12 months, and 18 months). Students will be surveyed for this information following graduation.

Diverse Learning Community refers to compiling and reporting demographic data for all student applicants, students accepted to the program, and enrolled students, along with their degree completion rates. Also included in this area are full-time faculty applicants, those faculty employed and retained by the program.

Fieldwork denotes that we will also report on the student placement rates at practicum and internship sites.

An annual program assessment report will be drafted for faculty, staff, and identified community partners for review and feedback before a group meeting discussion at which time feedback will be incorporated into the final report. The final annual report will be placed on our program website. All community partners will be notified of the availability of the annual report for review on the program website.

CMHC Program Learning Outcomes

PROFESSIONAL COUNSELING ORIENTATION AND ETHICAL PRACTICE (KPI 1)

Develop a professional identity that demonstrates alignment with the counseling profession's ethical standards, roles, and responsibilities, including advocacy work.

SOCIAL AND CULTURAL DIVERSITY (KPI 2)

Acknowledge the impact of systemic oppression by developing a professional counseling identity and practice in which inclusion, choice, and self-empowerment are central components.

LIFESPAN DEVELOPMENT (KPI 3)

Apply theoretical models of human development across the breadth and depth of the lifespan from individual, familial, and community attachments to overarching systems of culture and society.

CAREER DEVELOPMENT (KPI 4)

Develop strategies for career development counseling using theoretical models that are inclusive of developmental, cultural, accessibility gaps, and ethical components of career decision planning and making.

COUNSELING PRACTICE AND RELATIONSHIPS (KPI 5)

Demonstrate ethical and evidence-based counseling skills including documentation, treatment planning, crisis intervention, and suicide prevention in the counseling process that support collaborative relationships toward the overall development of a personal model of counseling.

GROUP COUNSELING AND GROUP WORK (KPI 6)

Apply theoretical foundations of effective group leadership skills in group counseling and group work including ethical group formation, implementation, and closing.

ASSESSMENT AND DIAGNOSTIC PROCESSES (KPI 7)

Demonstrate ethical selection and application of developmentally and culturally appropriate assessment and diagnosis, along a continuum from risk management to wellness.

RESEARCH AND PROGRAM EVALUATION (KPI 8)

Conduct and evaluate research that uses appropriate qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods to ethically inform and implement best practices of counseling and program evaluation.

CLINICAL MENTAL HEALTH COUNSELING SPECIALIZATION (KPI 9)

Demonstrate advocacy alongside clients in the systems of care they utilize; such as integrated behavioral healthcare professionals, community stakeholders, and reimbursement providers across the continuum of clinical mental health care.

ADDICTIONS COUNSELING SPECIALIZATION (KPI 10)

Apply systems-level thinking that is grounded in culturally and developmentally appropriate interventions toward the prevention, treatment, and recovery from substance abuse disorders.

The CMHC Program will engage in an annual comprehensive program evaluation and assessment of its students. Information about the program and student learning will be collected from multiple sources, including surveys sent to key stakeholders (alumni, site supervisors, employers) on an annual basis, exam results from credentialing boards, data collected from Tevera (the program's assessment system), and through demographic reports requested from the Admissions and Institutional Research offices. As this was our first cycle of evaluation and

assessment, the only two terms presented in this report highlight Spring 2024 and Summer 2024. One cohort of students entered the program in Spring 2024 and continued into the Summer 2024 term. The data presented here reflects our initial cohort only, as a second cohort will not begin the program until Academic Year 2024-2025. This data was analyzed and presented to the counseling faculty for recommendations as to whether curricular or program changes were needed. The final Annual Report was then posted to the CMHC Program web page and an email sent to all community partners notifying them of its completion. Data collected and reviewed during the 2023-2024 academic year was an initial opportunity to build an assessment process and to consider future program and curricular changes to the Master of Arts Clinical Mental Health Counseling Program.

Tevera Data

The table below presents a definition of each KPI and what is being measured, along with the first and second measurement points (if applicable) within the curriculum. Averages for each measurement point conducted in the academic year 2023-2024 are provided. Please note that several KPIs have not yet been assessed and will be reported on in the next cycle. A full KPI measurement chart appears in Appendix A.

Using Tevera, KPIs are assessed using a four-point Likert scale: 1 = Does Not Meet Expectations (79 points and below), 2 = Developing (80-84 points), 3 = Meets Expectations (85-95 points), 4 = Exceeds Expectations (96-100 points).

Table 1: KPI Data

CACREP Core Area	KPI	Measurement	Average
Professional Counseling Orientation and Ethical Practice	1- Develop a professional identity that demonstrates alignment with the counseling profession's ethical standards, roles, and responsibilities, including advocacy work.	COUN 505 – Orientation to Professional Counseling Credentialing & Licensure Paper COUN 525 – Professional Counseling Ethics Ethical Decision-Making Paper	3.00
Social and Cultural Identities and Experiences	2- Acknowledge the impact of systemic oppression by developing a professional counseling identity and practice in which inclusion, choice, and self-empowerment are central components	COUN 530 – Society & Culture in Counseling Identity Development Paper	3.56
Lifespan Development	3- Apply theoretical models of human development across the breadth and depth of the lifespan	COUN 510 – Human Development through the Lifespan	3.11

	from individual, familial, and community attachments to overarching systems of culture and society.	Final Integration Paper	
Counseling Practice and Relationships	5- Demonstrate ethical and evidence-based counseling skills including documentation, treatment planning, crisis intervention, and suicide prevention in the counseling process that support collaborative relationships toward the overall development of a personal model of counseling.	COUN 520 – Counseling Theories Comparative Analysis of Theories Paper COUN 625 – Counseling Techniques Recorded Labs	3.42
Clinical Mental Health Counseling	9- Demonstrate advocacy alongside clients in the systems of care they utilize; such as integrated behavioral healthcare professionals, community stakeholders, and reimbursement providers across the continuum of clinical mental health care.	COUN 530 – Society & Culture in Counseling Social Justice & Advocacy Project	4.00

The KPI data has one major limitation in this reporting cycle since not all classes have yet been offered. A complicating factor was attaining LTI integration with Tevera where KPI and KPD data are tracked by faculty and site supervisors that had to be fully built by Tevera and then integrated into Blackboard for the first time. This caused significant frustration for our faculty when multiple sections of the same course appeared in Tevera, making KPI assessment harder to track.

All averages thus far reflect students meeting the expectations for each KPI, with the Social Justice and Advocacy Project in their Culture & Society of Counseling course being Cohort A's highest average at 4.00. Cohort A's lowest averages were 3.00 for both their Recorded Labs in their Counseling Theories course and their Credentialing & Licensure Paper in their Orientation course.

Key Professional Dispositions

The Master of Arts in Clinical Mental Health Counseling Program has identified eleven KPDs that mirror the Counselor Competencies Scale-Revised (Lambie et. al, 2016). The CCS-R has been adapted into a form by Tevera for student evaluation of self, faculty evaluation of the student, and supervisor evaluation of the student. The criteria for each assessment point are: 1) Adherence to professional ethics; 2) Professional behavior; 3) Professional and personal boundaries; 4) Knowledge and adherence to site and course policies; 5) Record keeping and task completion; 6) Multicultural competence; 7) Emotional stability and self control; 8) Motivated to learn and grow; 9) Openness to feedback; 10) Flexibility and adaptability; and 11) Congruence and genuineness. For a full description of these KPD criteria, please refer to Appendix B.

While KPDs are evaluated informally by faculty on an ongoing basis, the data presented below is from the initial assessment point during Cohort A's Counseling Techniques course. Both the students and the faculty filled out evaluations in Tevera. Only one student evaluation is missing from this initial set of data, as they did not complete their evaluation. Because their instructor did, that data point is still included in the overall average.

The following Likert scale is used for CCS-R scoring: 1 = Harmful, 2 = Below Expectations/Unacceptable, 3 = Near Expectations/Developing towards Competencies, 4 = Meets Expectations/Demonstrates Competencies, and 5 = Exceeds Expectations/Demonstrates Competencies.

Table 2: KPD Data from Initial Assessment Point (Cohort A)

Key Professional Disposition (KPD)	Faculty Evaluation of Student (Average)	Student Self-Evaluation (Average)
Professional Ethics	4.38	4.14
Professional Behavior Practice	4.50	3.86
Professional & Personal Boundaries	4.50	3.86
Knowledge & Adherence to Site and Course Policies	4.50	3.14
Record Keeping & Task Completion	4.00	3.00
Multicultural Competence in Counseling Relationship	4.00	3.71
Emotional Stability & Self-Control	4.25	3.43
Motivated to Learn & Grow/Initiative	4.63	4.43
Openness to Feedback	5.00	4.43
Flexibility & Adaptability	4.75	3.57
Congruence & Genuineness	4.75	3.57

The table above depicts the 1st of five (5) formal KPD assessment points (Summer 2024) in the Counseling Techniques course. A total of eight (8) students were enrolled and completed this course from Cohort A. The faculty member completed all 8 CCS-R reports, while only 7 of the 8 students completed their CCS-R reports.

Additionally, KPDs are formally measured by students, fieldwork supervisors, and site supervisors at the end of each session they are enrolled in COUN 675 Practicum and/or COUN 695 Internship. Feedback is given to students in these classes and is considered when determining a student's final grade.

Demographics and Other Characteristics

Demographic data has been collected for applicants and enrolled current students. Two separate tables are presented below, given that we have two different mechanisms for capturing student demographic data; one is in the Admissions process, and the second is the Institutional Research office that compiles data according to Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS) classifications. IPEDS data is reflected in the first table, as our internal Colleague system collects data using this system, while the second table denotes data from our Admissions Office that reflects applicant data at the time of their application submission.

Table 3: Current Student Demographic Data (Cohort A)

	Demographics*	Current Students
Gender	Female	9
	Male	4
	No Data	0
	TOTAL	13
Ethnicity	White	10
	Black or African American	1
	No Data	2

	TOTAL	13
Age	18-24	5
	25-29	3
	30-39	1
	40-49	3
	50-59	0
	60-69	1
	No Data	0
	TOTAL	13

^{*}The demographic descriptors listed are currently used by WVWC when collecting this type of data in alignment with the Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS).

Table 4: Applicant Demographic Data (Cohort A)

Demographics		Applicants
Gender	Female	10
	Male	5

	Not disclosed	0
	Nonbinary	1
	Transgender	0
	Genderqueer	1
Age	18 to 24	5
	25 to 29	4
	30 to 39	2
	40-49	3
	50-59	0
	60-69	1
	Not disclosed	0

There were 15 applicants for the Spring 2024 term. The Admissions Office defines an applicant as anyone who has submitted a fully completed application. Of these 15 applicants, one student chose not to enroll and one chose to defer their admission. One additional student took a leave of absence during the 2023-2024 academic year with the intent to enroll again in the Spring of 2025.

At the end of the 2023-2024 academic year, the Master of Arts in Counseling Program had 13 students who had enrolled in Spring or Summer courses. Using IPEDs data in the first table, the majority of enrolled students identified as Female (69%), and White (77%) and between the ages of 18-29 (62%). Diversity at WVWC over the past academic year is inadequate and will be a focus for both recruitment and admissions in the faculty and student population.

Please note that totals are not given in the second table purposefully to illustrate that applicants were required to answer male or female for their legal sex, but could also designate their gender identity and preferred pronouns. This resulted in a different picture than initially presented about our student body in the first table in this section. Rather than seeing students in the gender binary, this second table demonstrates that even though a small percentage, 13% of candidates chose to present their multifaceted identities when given the chance to do so in their applications.

Across applicants and enrolled students, demographic characteristics remained consistent with female, white, and between the ages of 18-29 being the most represented group. It should be noted that this demographic outcome of the Master of Arts in CMHC Program is consistent with the representation of the counseling profession in general.

A full-time tenure-track position was hired for the 2023-2024 Academic Year, in addition to the existing Program Director hired to begin the CMHC Program. Dr. Jen Randall Reyes chaired the search committee as the Program Director, along with Provost Lynn Linder, three prospective students for the CMHC program (one undergraduate student finishing their degree work at WVWC at the time, and two faculty members interested in the program), and Cynthia Brissey, Associate Dean for Academic Affairs. Demographic data was not requested from the ten applicants. Please see the modifications section below.

Systematic Follow-up Studies

As part of our ongoing program evaluation, surveys will be emailed each year to key stakeholders including recent graduates, site supervisors, employers, and advisory committee members. The purpose of these surveys is to identify areas within the program/curriculum that may need improvement based on input received. Surveys will first be sent during the 2025-2026 reporting year since our first graduates will be in December of 2025.

Modifications Based on Program Evaluation

While still very early in our program, it was clear in this initial iteration of program evaluation that we are missing a mechanism to capture prospective and current faculty demographic data. This presents a challenge in ensuring that the marketing and recruitment efforts we are using are successful in supporting diversity. We will therefore implement a survey in the next round of data collection to ensure we are not losing that vital piece of faculty data.

Other Substantial Program Changes

We changed the curriculum sequence to switch the order of Counseling Techniques with Lifespan Development. This change not only supports giving students the opportunity to learn and practice basic counseling skills sooner in the program, but it also begins their counseling training with a course that students find exciting and directly relevant to their goals of becoming a counselor.

We have also integrated multiple-choice quizzes into most of the course curriculum, with the goal of preparing students for the CPCE and NCE exams. Because we do not yet have data on student pass rates for these exams, we are interested in continuing to monitor trainee readiness for such examinations. We will modify our curriculum according to student needs moving forward.

Additionally, we noticed in the first and second sessions of our courses that course opinion surveys and evaluations automatically generated from the SmartEval system did not quite meet

our needs due to being geared toward an in-person undergraduate learning experience. Moving forward, we have requested an amendment to these evaluations to get more specific and helpful feedback from the Institutional Research Office.

Program faculty realized early in the first academic year that the graduation requirement to complete twenty (20) individual counseling sessions would not be sustainable given the decision by WVWC to suspend their telemental health contract with an external provider (UWill.com). Therefore, a change was made to ensure equity and access to growth experiences in the form of a group process led by master's level, provisionally licensed facilitators already working in the field. One such group will be held for all students prior to their fieldwork experience in the Fall of 2024.

Conclusion

The Master of Arts in Clinical Mental Health Counseling Program at West Virginia Wesleyan College has successfully launched and experienced higher than anticipated enrollment in the first cohort. Our assessment process is served by the annual evaluation of the metrics noted above. Further refinement will continue to shape our process as we have additional data points from incoming and returning students.

Appendix A: Key Performance Indicators

CACREP Core Area	KPI	Course		
Professional Counseling Orientation and	KPI 1: Develop a professional identity that demonstrates alignment with the counseling profession's ethical standards, roles, and responsibilities, including advocacy work.	COUN505: Credentialing and Licensure Paper		
Ethical Practice	Toles, and responsibilities, including advocacy work.	COUN525: Ethical Decision-Making Paper		
Social and Cultural Identities and	KPI 2: Acknowledge the impact of systemic oppression by developing a professional counseling identity and practice in which inclusion, choice, and self-empowerment are central	COUN530: Identity Development Paper		
Experiences	components.	COUN640: Group Counseling & Social Justice Advocacy Paper		
Lifespan Development	KPI 3: Apply theoretical models of human development across the breadth and depth of the lifespan from individual, familial, and community attachments to overarching systems of culture	COUN510: Final Integration Paper		
	and society.	COUN630: Child & Adolescent Developmental Disorder Paper		
Career Development KPI 4: Develop strategies for career development cou using theoretical models that are inclusive of development cultural, accessibility gaps, and ethical components of		COUN550:Career/Lifestyle Development Treatment Plan		
	decision planning and making.	COUN675: Career Counseling Case Study		
Counseling Practice and Relationships	KPI 5: Demonstrate ethical and evidence-based counseling skills including documentation, treatment planning, crisis intervention, and suicide prevention in the counseling process	COUN520: Comparative Analysis of Theories Paper		
	that support collaborative relationships toward the overall development of a personal model of counseling.	COUN625: Recorded Labs		
Group Counseling and	KPI 6: Apply theoretical foundations of effective group leadership skills in group counseling and group work including	COUN640: Group Proposal Paper		
Group Work	ethical group formation, implementation, and closing.	COUN695: Group Plan & Case Study		
Assessment and Diagnostic Processes	KPI 7: Demonstrate ethical selection and application of developmentally and culturally appropriate assessment and diagnosis, along a continuum from risk management to	COUN620: Case Study Paper		
110003003	wellness.	COUN645: Assessment Paper		
Research and Program	KPI 8: Conduct and evaluate research that uses appropriate qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods to ethically inform	COUN535: Research Proposal Paper		
Evaluation	and implement best practices of counseling and program evaluation.	COUN695: Program Evaluation Design & Procedures Case Study		
CMHC Specialization	KPI 9: Demonstrate advocacy alongside clients in the systems of care they utilize; such as integrated behavioral healthcare professionals, community stakeholders, and reimbursement	COUN530: Social Justice & Advocacy Project		
	providers across the continuum of clinical mental health care.	COUN675: Systems Level Case Study		
Addiction Specialization	KPI 10: Apply systems-level thinking that is grounded in culturally and developmentally appropriate interventions toward the prevention, treatment, and recovery from substance abuse	COUN545: Ethics & Addiction Counseling Paper		
	disorders.	COUN695: Addiction Cycle Case Study		

Appendix B: Key Professional Dispositions

Adapted from the Counselor Competencies Scales-Revised (CCS-R)

What each score means:

- 5 Exceeds expectations / Demonstrates competencies
- 4 Meets expectations / Demonstrates competencies
- 3 Near expectations / Developing towards competencies
- 2 Attempts to meet expectations with mixed demonstration of competencies
- 1 Below expectations
- 0 Missing

Criteria	Description	5	4	3	2	1	0
Adherence to professional ethics	Adheres to ethical guidelines of the ACA & NBCC; including practices within competencies						
Professional behavior	Behaves in a professional manner towards supervisors, peers, and clients (e.g., emotional regulation); Is respectful and appreciative to the culture of colleagues and demonstrates an ability to effectively collaborate with others						
Professional and personal boundaries	Maintains appropriate boundaries with supervisors, peers, and clients						
Knowledge and adherence to site and course policies	Demonstrates an understanding and appreciation for counseling site, course policies, and counseling procedures						
Record keeping and task completion	Completes all weekly record keeping tasks correctly and promptly (e.g., case notes, psychosocial reports, treatment plans, supervisory report)						
Multicultural competence	Demonstrates respect for culture (e.g., race, ethnicity, gender, spirituality, religion, sexual orientation, disability, social class, etc.) and awareness of and responsiveness to ways in which culture interacts with the counseling relationship						
Emotional stability and self control	Demonstrates self awareness and emotional stability (i.e., congruence between mood and affect) and self-control (i.e., impulse control) in relationships with clients						
Motivated to learn and grow	Demonstrates engagement in learning and development of his or her counseling						
Openness to feedback	Responds non-defensively and alters behavior in accordance with supervisory and/or instructor feedback						
Flexibility and adaptability	Demonstrates ability to adapt to changing circumstances, unexpected events, and/or new situations						
Congruence and genuineness	Demonstrates ability to be present and "be true to oneself"						

Note that the above rubric was adapted from the Lambie et. al (2016) version of the CCS-R for this reporting cycle; whereas, the updated 2024 version will be utilized for the next reporting cycle.